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Plaintiff-Appellant Joseph Rudolph Wood III  
Excerpts of Record 

 
 
VOLUME 1 (ERs 001-054): 
 
ER 001: Notice of Preliminary Injunction Appeal, filed July 10, 2014 [United 

States District Court for the District of Arizona (“USDC”) ECF 
No.22] 

 
ER 003: Order Denying Petitioner’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction or 

Temporary Restraining Order, filed July 11, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 
21] 

 
ER 018: Hearing Transcript for Motion for Preliminary Injunction, dated  
  July 9, 2014 
 
VOLUME 2 (ERs 055-186): 
 
 
ER 055: Affidavit of Charles L. Ryan, dated October 8, 2010 [USDC ECF No. 

11-1, Ex. K, filed July 2, 2014] 
 
ER 057: Affidavit of Charles L. Ryan, dated December 6, 2010 [USDC ECF 

No. 11-1, Ex. H, filed July 2, 2014] 
 
ER 059: West v. Brewer, No. 11-cv-1409-NJW, Protective Order at 1, dated 

August 10, 2011 [USDC ECF No. 16-1, Ex. L, filed July 8, 2014] 
 
ER 064: Notice of Service of Defendants Rule 26 Disclosures and Responses 

to Plaintiffs First Request for Production, West v. Brewer, No. 2:1 l-
cv-01409-NVW (D. Ariz.), filed August 24, 2011 [USDC ECF No. 
11-1, Ex. J, filed July 2, 2014]  

   
  Attachments to Notice of Service:  
    
 ER 067: Defs’ Disclosures, Bates No. 01973-01978 DFS’ 26(a)(1) 

  Disclosures and Responses to RFP’s (Photographs of  
  Nembutal Supply)    
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 ER 073: Defs’ Disclosures, Bates No. 01985 DFS’ 26(a)(1)   
  Disclosures and Responses to RFPs (Nembutal®   
  Purchase Order)   

 
ER 074: ADC Dep’t Order 710, Execution Procedures, at Attach. D, § 

A(I)(III), dated September 21, 2012 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. I, filed 
July 2, 2014] 

 
ER 108: Letter from Jeffrey A. Zick, Chief Counsel, Capital Litigation Section 

of the Office of the Arizona Attorney General, to Julie S. Hall, Esq., 
dated April 22, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. A, filed July 2, 2014] 

 
ER 110: Letter from Dale A. Baich, Supervisor, Capital Habeas Unit of the 

Office of the Federal Public Defender for the District of Arizona, to 
Charles L. Ryan, Director, Arizona Department of Corrections, dated 
April 30, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. B, filed July 2, 2014] 

 
ER 115: Letter from Charles L. Ryan, Director, Arizona Department of 

Corrections, to Dale A. Baich, Supervisor, Capital Habeas Unit of the 
Office of the Federal Public Defender for the District of Arizona, 
dated May 6, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. F, filed July 2, 2014] 

 
ER 117: Letter from Dale A. Baich, Supervisor, Capital Habeas Unit of the 

Office of the Federal Public Defender for the District of Arizona, to 
Charles L. Ryan, Director, Arizona Department of Corrections, dated 
May 9, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. C, filed July 2, 2014] 

 
ER 123: Letter from Dale A. Baich, Supervisor, Capital Habeas Unit of the 

Office of the Federal Public Defender for the District of Arizona, to 
Charles L. Ryan, Director, Arizona Department of Corrections, dated 
May 15, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. D, filed July 2, 2014] 

 
ER 128: Letter from Dale A. Baich, Supervisor, Capital Habeas Unit of the 

Office of the Federal Public Defender for the District of Arizona, to 
Charles L. Ryan, Director, Arizona Department of Corrections, dated 
May 15, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. E, filed July 2, 2014] 

 
ER 132: Letter from Charles L. Ryan, Director, Arizona Department of 

Corrections, to Dale A. Baich, Supervisor, Capital Habeas Unit of the 
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Office of the Federal Public Defender for the District of Arizona, 
dated June 6, 2014 [USDC ECF No. 11-1, Ex. G, filed July 2, 2014] 

 
   Attachments to Letter (redacted): 
   
  ER 135:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Request for   
    Purchase/Purchase Order (Hydromorphone and   
    Midazolam), January 13, 2014  
 
  ER 136:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Midazolam), January 13, 2014  
 
  ER 137: Arizona Department of Corrections, Pick Ticket  
    (Midazolam), January 10, 2014 
 
  ER 138:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Hydromorphone), January 13, 2014 
 
  ER 139: Arizona Department of Corrections, Pick Ticket  
    (Hydromorphone), January 13, 2014 
 
  ER 140:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Midazolam), January 17, 2014 
 
  ER 141:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Request for   
    Purchase/Purchase Order (Hydromorphone and   
    Midazolam), April 14, 2014  
 
  ER 142:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Midazolam), April 21, 2014 
 
  ER 143: Arizona Department of Corrections, Pick Ticket  
    (Midazolam), January 17, 2014 
 
  ER 144:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Request for   
    Purchase/Purchase Order (Heparin), April 5, 2012 
 
  ER 145:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Heparin), April 6, 2012 
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  ER 146:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Unidentified   
    document (Heparin), April 5, 2012 
 
  ER 147:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Request for   
    Purchase/Purchase Order (Heparin), November 13, 2012 
 
  ER 148:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Heparin), May 20, 2013 
 
  ER 149:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Unidentified   
    document (Heparin), November 26, 2012 
 
  ER 150:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Request for   
    Purchase/Purchase Order (Heparin), November 13, 2012 
 
  ER 151:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Heparin), December 6, 2012 
 
  ER 152:  Arizona Department of Corrections, Invoice    
    (Heparin), November 27, 2012 
 
  ER 153:  Correspondence between officials with the Arizona  
    Department of Corrections and  Oklahoma Department of 
    Corrections        
 
  ER 173: Correspondence regarding request for records  
 
 
ER 178: Letter from Charles Ryan, Director, Arizona Department of 

Corrections, to Joseph Rudolph Wood, dated June 25, 2014 [USDC 
ECF No. 16-1, Ex. M, filed July 8, 2014] 

 
ER 180: USDC Docket 
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Jon M. Sands 
Federal Public Defender 
District of Arizona 
Dale A. Baich (OH Bar No. 0025070) 
Robin C. Konrad (AL Bar No. N76K-2194) 
Assistant Federal Public Defenders 
850 West Adams Street, Suite 201 
Phoenix, Arizona 85007 
dale_baich@fd.org 
robin_konrad@fd.org 
602.382.2816 
602.889.3960 facsimile 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

 
Joseph Rudolph Wood III,   
  Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
Charles L. Ryan, et. al, 
  Defendants. 

Case No: 2:14-cv-01447-NVW-JFM 
 
NOTICE OF PRELIMINARY-INJUCTION 
APPEAL 
 
Execution Scheduled for July 23, 2014 

 

Plaintiff Joseph R. Wood hereby gives notice of his appeal to the Ninth Circuit 

Court of Appeals from the order entered in this action on July 10, 2014. (ECF No. 21.) 

 

Respectfully submitted this 10th day of July, 2014. 
 
Jon M. Sands 
Federal Public Defender 
District of Arizona 
Dale A. Baich 
Robin C. Konrad 
 
s/ Dale A. Baich 
Counsel for Plaintiff Joseph R. Wood III 
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Certificate of Service 

I hereby certify that on July 10, 2014, I electronically filed the foregoing Notice 

of Preliminary-Injunction Appeal with the Clerk’s Office by using the CM/ECF system.  

I certify that all participants in the case are registered CM/ECF users and that service 

will be accomplished by the CM/ECF system. 
 

s/ Dale A. Baich 
Counsel for Mr. Wood 
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WO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

 
 
Joseph Rudolph Wood, III,
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
 vs. 
 
Charles L. Ryan, et al., 
 
  Defendants. 
 

No. CV-14-1447-PHX-NVW (JFM)
 
 
ORDER 
 

  

 Before the Court is the Motion for Preliminary Injunction or Temporary 

Restraining Order filed by Plaintiff Joseph Rudolph Wood III. (Doc. 11.) Wood seeks 

an injunction requiring Defendants to disclose certain information about the drugs, drug 

protocol, and personnel that will be involved in his execution, which is set for July 23, 

2014. (Id.) Briefing on the motion was completed on July 8, 2014. (Docs. 15, 16.) The 

Court heard oral argument on July 9, 2014.  

 This order states the Court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a)(2). For the reasons that follow, Wood’s motion 

will be denied. 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 1 of 15
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BACKGROUND 

 The Court has considered the pleadings and exhibits. Based on these documents, 

the Court finds that the following facts are undisputed. 

 On April 22, 2014, the State moved for a warrant of execution. That same day, 

Jeffrey A. Zick, Chief Counsel of the Capital Litigation Section of the Office of the 

Arizona Attorney General, sent a letter to Wood’s counsel informing them that the 

Arizona Department of Corrections intends to use a two-drug protocol consisting of 

midazolam and hydromorphone to execute Wood. (Doc. 119, Ex. A.) Zick also stated 

that if “ADC is able to procure pentobarbital, ADC will provide notice of its intent to 

use that drug.” (Id.) 

 A warrant of execution was issued on May 28, 2014. 

 The current execution protocol, found in Department Order 710, and effective 

March 26, 2014, calls for the use of 50 mg of midazolam and 50 mg of hydromorphone. 

It also provides for one-drug protocols using pentobarbital or sodium pentothal. (See 

Doc. 11, Ex. I.) 

 Between April 30 and June 6, 2014, the parties exchanged a series of letters. On 

April 30, Wood’s counsel sent Defendant Ryan a letter requesting information about the 

provenance of the midazolam and hydromorphone and asking for an explanation of the 

Department of Corrections’ continuing search for pentobarbital. (Id., Ex. B.) Counsel 

also sought information about the Drug Enforcement Administration qualifications of 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 2 of 15
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the personnel who would participate in Plaintiff’s execution asked Ryan to explain how 

the Department of Corrections determined the midazolam and hydromorphone dosages 

in its protocol and asked why the amounts of midazolam and hydromorphone differ 

from the amounts required in the State of Ohio’s lethal-injection protocol. (Id.)  

 On May 6, Ryan replied to the April 30 letter. (Id., Ex. F.) He declined to provide 

further information about the drugs, based on the Department of Corrections’  

interpretation of Arizona’s executioner-confidentiality statute, A.R.S. § 13-757(C). (Id.) 

However, he avowed that the drugs are “domestically obtained” and “FDA approved.” 

(Id.) Ryan further noted that the Department of Corrections continued to look for 

pentobarbital and would inform Plaintiff’s counsel if it obtained the drug. (Id.) Ryan 

declined to provide specific information about the Drug Enforcement Administration 

qualifications of the execution personnel, but stated that “the qualifications of the IV 

team as set forth in Department Order 710.02-1.2.5 have not changed since the ADC 

amended the protocol in September, 2012, to include assurances of the IV team’s 

qualifications.” (Id.) He also indicated that the development of the Department of 

Corrections’ two-drug protocol was based on affidavits and testimony in Case No. 2:11-

CV-1016, in the Southern District of Ohio. (Id.)  

 On May 9, Woods counsel sent a follow-up letter seeking clarification and 

requesting specific Ohio documents referenced in Ryan’s letter. (Id., Ex. C.) Counsel 

again asked for the qualifications of the medical professionals who would participate in 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 3 of 15
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Wood’s execution, as well as evidence demonstrating that the Department of 

Corrections had verified those qualifications. (Id.)  

 On May 15, Wood’s counsel sent another letter, again asking for the Drug 

Enforcement Administration and medical qualifications, along with information about 

the development of the Department of Corrections’ two-drug protocol. (Id., Ex. D.) 

Counsel also requested documents pertaining to correspondence with various state 

departments of corrections and federal agencies.  (Id.)  

 On June 6, Ryan sent Wood’s counsel a response. (Id., Ex. G.) Ryan provided 

redacted copies of purchase orders, invoices, and order confirmations for the midazolam 

and hydromorphone. (Id.) The documents display the drug names and expiration 

dates—September and October 2015. (Id.) Information about the manufacturers and 

suppliers of the midazolam and hydromorphone was redacted. (Id.) Ryan also avowed 

that the Inspector General had verified the qualifications of the medical professionals on 

the IV team; in the event that a central femoral line was used, it would be placed by a 

person currently licensed or certified to do so. (Id.) Defendant Ryan declined to provide 

copies of the Ohio documents, asserting that because the Federal Public Defender’s 

Office was involved in the Ohio litigation, Wood’s counsel would have access to the 

documents. (Id.)  

 On June 26, Wood and plaintiffs Graham S. Henry, David Gulbrandson, Todd 

Smith, Charles M. Hedlund, and Eldon Schurz filed a civil rights complaint alleging 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 4 of 15
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three claims: a violation of their First Amendment right of access to the courts (Claim 

One), a violation of their First Amendment right of access to governmental proceedings 

(Claim Two), and a Supremacy Clause violation based on the Department of 

Corrections’ alleged failure to follow the Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act in adopting its 

lethal-injection protocol. (Claim 3). (Doc. 1.) 

 On June 28, 2014, Wood received final notice from the Department of 

Corrections stating that his execution would be carried out using the midazolam and 

hydromorphone two-drug protocol. (Doc. 16, Ex. M.)  

 On July 1, 2014, Wood filed his motion for a preliminary injunction. (Doc. 11.) 

DISCUSSION 

 Wood seeks the following information: the source(s), manufacturer(s), National 

Drug Codes (NDCs), and lot numbers of the drugs Defendants intend to use in his 

execution; non-personally-identifying information detailing the medical, professional, 

and controlled-substances qualifications and certifications of the personnel Defendants 

intend to use in his execution; and information and documents detailing the manner in 

which Defendants developed their lethal-injection drug protocol. (Doc. 11 at 1.) The 

motion is based solely on Claim Two, alleging that Defendants’ refusal to provide the 

information violates Plaintiff’s right of access to governmental proceedings. (See id. at 

9; Doc. 16 at 2 & n.2.) 

 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 5 of 15
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I. APPLICABLE LAW 

 A. Standard for Injunctive Relief 

 A preliminary injunction is “an extraordinary and drastic remedy, one that should 

not be granted unless the movant, by a clear showing, carries the burden of persuasion.” 

Mazurek v. Armstrong, 520 U.S. 968, 972 (1997) (per curiam) (citation omitted). An 

injunction may be granted only where the movant shows that “he is likely to succeed on 

the merits, that he is likely to suffer irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary 

relief, that the balance of equities tips in his favor, and that an injunction is in the public 

interest.” Winter v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008); see also 

Beardslee v. Woodford, 395 F.3d 1064, 1067 (9th Cir. 2005). Alternatively, under the 

Ninth Circuit’s “serious questions” version of the sliding-scale test, a preliminary 

injunction is appropriate when a plaintiff demonstrates that “serious questions going to 

the merits were raised and the balance of hardships tips sharply in the plaintiff’s favor.” 

Alliance for the Wild Rockies v. Cottrell, 632 F.3d 1127, 1135 (9th Cir. 2011) (citation 

omitted). This approach requires that the elements of the preliminary injunction test be 

balanced, so that a stronger showing of one element may offset a weaker showing of 

another.  

 In the context of a capital case, the Supreme Court has emphasized that these 

principles apply when a condemned prisoner asks a federal court to enjoin his 

impending execution. “Filing an action that can proceed under § 1983 does not entitle 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 6 of 15
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the complainant to an order staying an execution as a matter of course.” Hill v. 

McDonough, 547 U.S. 573, 583–84 (2006). Rather, “a stay of execution is an equitable 

remedy” and “equity must be sensitive to the State’s strong interest in enforcing its 

criminal judgments without undue interference from the federal courts.” Id. at 584; see 

Beardslee, 395 F.3d at 1068. 

 B. First Amendment Right of Access to Governmental Proceedings  

 “Neither the First Amendment nor the Fourteenth Amendment mandates a right 

of access to government information or sources of information within the government’s 

control.” Houchins v. KQED, 438 U.S. 1, 15 (1978) (plurality opinion). The Supreme 

Court “has never intimated a First Amendment guarantee of a right of access to all 

sources of information within government control.” Id. at 9; see McBurney v. Young, 

133 S. Ct. 1709, 1718 (2013) (“This Court has repeatedly made clear that there is no 

constitutional right to obtain all the information provided by FOIA laws.”). 

 There is, however, a First Amendment right of public access to governmental 

proceedings. In California First Amendment Coalition v. Woodford, 299 F.3d 868, 873–

74 (9th Cir. 2002), the Ninth Circuit explained that “[i]t is well-settled that the First 

Amendment guarantees the public—and the press—a qualified right of access to 

governmental proceedings.” See Press–Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 U.S. 1, 8–

14 (1986) (“Press- Enterprise II”); Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 

596, 603–11 (1982); Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia, 448 U.S. 555, 579 (1980). 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 7 of 15
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The right of access is premised on “the common understanding that ‘a major purpose of 

[the First] Amendment was to protect the free discussion of governmental affairs.’” 

Globe Newspaper, 457 U.S. at 604 (quoting Mills v. Alabama, 384 U.S. 214, 218 

(1966)).  

 Whether the public has a First Amendment right of access to particular 

governmental proceedings is informed by two “complimentary considerations”: (1) 

“whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general 

public” and (2) “whether public access plays a significant positive role in the 

functioning of the particular process in question.” Press-Enterprise II, 478 U.S. at 8–9. 

 In California First Amendment Coalition, the Ninth Circuit noted that under its 

precedent the right of access extends to a “broad range of criminal proceedings” and 

“documents filed therein.” 299 F.3d at 874 (citation omitted). Based on these principles, 

the court concluded that the press and the public have a First Amendment right to view 

execution proceedings from the moment the condemned enters the execution chamber 

to the time he is pronounced dead. Id. at 885–86. The court reasoned as follows: 

Independent public scrutiny—made possible by the public and media 
witnesses to an execution—plays a significant role in the proper 
functioning of capital punishment. An informed public debate is critical in 
determining whether execution by lethal injection comports with “the 
evolving standards of decency which mark the progress of a maturing 
society.” To determine whether lethal injection executions are fairly and 
humanely administered, or whether they ever can be, citizens must have 
reliable information about the “initial procedures,” which are invasive, 
possibly painful and may give rise to serious complications. This 
information is best gathered first-hand or from the media, which serves as 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 8 of 15
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the public’s surrogate. Further, “public access . . . fosters an appearance of 
fairness, thereby heightening public respect for the judicial process.” 
Finally, public observation of executions fosters the same sense of 
catharsis that public observation of criminal trials fosters. . . . 
Accordingly, the same functional concerns that drove the Court to 
recognize the public’s right of access to criminal trial proceedings compel 
us to hold that the public has a First Amendment right to view the 
condemned as he enters the execution chamber, is forcibly restrained and 
fitted with the apparatus of death. 
 

Id. at 876 (citations omitted). 

II. ANALYSIS 

 Wood contends that he is likely to succeed on the merits of Claim Two, alleging 

a violation of his right of access to governmental proceedings under the First 

Amendment. The Court disagrees.  

 Plaintiff relies principally on Schad v. Brewer, No. CV-13-2001-PHX-ROS, 

2013 WL 5551668 (D.Ariz. Oct. 7, 2013), and California First Amendment Coalition. 

(Doc. 11 at 10–12.) California First Amendment Coalition did not address a right of 

access to documentary information about lethal injection drugs, the development of 

lethal injection protocols, or the qualification of the execution team. In Schad, however, 

the court relied on California First Amendment Coalition to grant relief on the 

plaintiff’s claim of First Amendment right of access to government proceedings.  The 

court required Defendants to disclose the manufacturer, NDCs, lot numbers, and 

expiration dates of the lethal injection drugs. The court found that the plaintiff had a 

right to the drug information because historically executions have been open events and 

Case 2:14-cv-01447-NVW--JFM   Document 21   Filed 07/10/14   Page 9 of 15
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public access to the drug information plays a significant positive role in the functioning 

of capital punishment. The court stated that “the public must have reliable information 

about the lethal injection drugs themselves in order to judge the propriety of the 

particular means used to carry out an execution.” Id., at *5. 

 For the reasons discussed next, the Court reaches a different result in this case. 

 Since the ruling in Schad, two courts have addressed similar claims of First 

Amendment right of access to pre-execution state records and information.  Both courts 

cited California First Amendment Coalition but denied the First Amendment claims. In 

Owens v. Hill, --- S.E.2d ----, 2014 WL 2025129 (Ga. 2014), the Supreme Court of 

Georgia rejected the inmate’s claim of a First Amendment right of access to information 

concerning the identity of the drug manufacturer. The court cited the test formulated in 

Press-Enterprise II and applied in California First Amendment Coalition and concluded 

that “[e]ven adopting the extravagant view that the acquisition of execution drugs is a 

government process subject to this test, we still conclude that Hill’s claims fail to satisfy 

either of these elements”—i.e., whether access had been granted historically and 

whether public access would play a positive role in the functioning of the process. Id., at 

*10. 

 In Wellons v. Commissioner, Georgia Dept. of Corrections, --- F.3d ----, 2014 

WL 2748316, at *6 (11th Cir. 2014), a decision issued June 17, 2014, the Eleventh 

Circuit rejected an inmate’s claim that the State’s failure to provide information about 
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the drugs to be used in his execution violated his First Amendment right of access to 

governmental proceedings. The district court denied the inmate’s motion for injunctive 

relief. It “agreed with Defendants that while there may be First Amendment 

implications involved in the openness of government operations, the cases Wellons 

relies upon [including California First Amendment Coalition] turn on the public’s, 

rather than the individual’s, need to be informed so as to foster debate.” Id. The Court of 

Appeals agreed, explaining: 

We agree with the judgment of the district court. Neither the Fifth, 
Fourteenth, or First Amendments afford Wellons the broad right “to know 
where, how, and by whom the lethal injection drugs will be 
manufactured,” as well as “the qualifications of the person or persons who 
will manufacture the drugs, and who will place the catheters.” . . . Wellons 
has not established a substantial likelihood of success on the merits of his 
claim that the dearth of information regarding the nature of the 
pentobarbital that will be used in his execution and the expertise of those 
who will carry it out violates the First Amendment or his right to due 
process. This ground is also a sufficient basis to conclude that the district 
court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Wellons is not entitled 
to injunctive relief on these claims. 
 

Id., at *6 (quotation omitted).  

 Having reviewed the cases cited by both parties, particularly California First 

Amendment Coalition, the Court concludes that the First Amendment does not provide a 

right to access to the specific information Wood seeks. The question addressed in 

California First Amendment Coalition was “whether the public has a First Amendment 

right to view executions.” 299 F.3d at 873 (emphasis added). In answering that question, 

the court noted that “[t]he public and press historically have been allowed to watch the 
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condemned inmate enter the execution place, be attached to the execution device and 

then die.” Id. at 876. By contrast, Wood has cited no authority for the proposition that 

the press and general public have historically been granted access to information 

identifying of the manufacturer of lethal-injection drugs. To the extent that the 

Department of Corrections has disclosed such information to civil rights plaintiffs in the 

past, it has been pursuant to court order, as in Schad, or during discovery, as in West v. 

Brewer, No. 2:11-CV-1409-NVW.  

 Plaintiff also argues that information identifying the manufacturer of the lethal 

injection drugs is necessary to the public debate about the death penalty. The Court is 

not persuaded. Given the information that has already been disclosed, including the type 

of drug, the dosage to be used, and the expiration dates, as well as the fact that the drugs 

are domestically-obtained and FDA-approved, access to the additional information 

sought by Plaintiff would not “play[] a significant positive role in the functioning” of 

the death penalty. California First Amendment Coalition, 299 F.3d at 875 (quoting 

Press-Enterprise II, 478 U.S. at 8). The available information is sufficient for an 

“informed public debate.” Id. at 876.    

 Finally, in contrast to the record considered by the court in Schad, there are not 

significant questions about the reliability of the information disclosed by the Arizona 

Department of Corrections. 2013 WL 5551668, at *2. For example, there are not 
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concerns that the lethal injection drugs are expired or obtained from a foreign source. 

Shad, 2013 WL 5551668, at *2.  

 The holding in California First Amendment Coalition does not extend a First 

Amendment right to information identifying the drug manufacturer in this case. That 

case specifically addressed a public right to view the execution process.  That principle 

does not expand to encompass a First Amendment right to compel the government to 

disclose information about execution drugs beyond that already provided here. 

 The same analysis applies to the other categories of information Wood seeks.  

The Department of Corrections has stated that the qualifications of its execution team 

personnel have not changed since prior litigation, Towery v. Brewer, No. 2:12-CV-245-

NVW, and that it developed its two-drug protocol based on declarations and testimony 

in the Ohio litigation. (Doc. 11, Ex. F.) Declining to provide additional information does 

not violate the First Amendment.  

 In addition, the undisclosed information does not have the practical import 

necessary to warrant a preliminary injunction even if there were a theoretical basis for 

it. At oral argument, Wood could not articulate any particular significance to the 

identity of the drug manufacturer beyond an abstract right to the information and its 

purported usefulness to public debate. (See Doc. 19 at 9–11.)  The usefulness of the 

identity of the manufacturer to public debate on the death penalty is attenuated.   The 

real effect of requiring disclosure, however, is to extend the pressure on qualified 
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suppliers not to supply the drugs, as has happened in the past.  See Landrigan v. Brewer, 

625 F.3d 1132, 1143 (9th Cir. 2010) (Kozinski, C.J., dissenting from denial of rehearing 

en banc). That purpose carries no weight in favor of compelled disclosure by the 

equitable remedy of a preliminary injunction. Indeed, the weight it carries is against 

disclosure.  The state has a legitimate interest in getting the drugs from legal sources, 

which would be impeded by disclosure of the source. (Id.) 

 Next, the specific qualifications of the execution personnel is of little 

significance because the protocol states the levels of qualification needed and there is no 

challenge to the Defendants’ assertion that those qualifications have been met.  Also, 

the detail of  information Wood requests might in fact become “identifying” 

information. That result is only a possibility on this sparse record.  But the possibility 

alone weighs against disclosure when nothing specific weighs in favor.    

 Finally, the manner in which the Department of Corrections developed its 

protocol is less important than the protocol itself. The protocol must withstand 

constitutional scrutiny if challenged, however it was arrived at. Wood does not 

challenge the substance of the protocol on this motion. The absence of specific, 

articulated value of the information to Wood cuts against suspension of the state court 

processes to get it.   

/  /  / 

/  /  / 
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CONCLUSION 

  For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiff’s claim of First Amendment right of 

access to governmental proceedings is not likely to succeed on the merits, not for the 

ends to which it is asserted here. Winter, 555 U.S. at 20. Nor are there serious questions 

going to the merits of the claim. Cottrell, 632 F.3d at 1135.  

 Under Winter or the Ninth Circuit’s sliding-scale test, “if a plaintiff fails to show 

that he has some chance on the merits, that ends the matter.” Developmental Services 

Network v. Douglas, 666 F.3d 540, 544 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing Global Horizons, Inc. v. 

U.S. Dep’t of Labor, 510 F.3d 1054, 1058 (9th Cir. 2007)); see Doe v. Reed, 586 F.3d 

671, 681 n.14 (9th Cir. 2009) (“Because we conclude that Plaintiffs have failed to 

satisfy the first Winter factor—likelihood of success on the merits—we need not 

examine the three remaining Winter factors.”). 

Therefore, Wood has not “by a clear showing, carried the burden of persuasion” 

on his motion for a preliminary injunction. Mazurek, 520 U.S. at 972. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Plaintiff Wood’s Motion for Preliminary 

Injunction or Temporary Restraining Order (Doc. 11) is DENIED. 

Dated this 10th day of July, 2014. 
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P R O C E E D I N G S

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: This is Civil Case 2014-1447,

Joseph Wood, III, et al., versus Charles L. Ryan, et al. This

is the time set for oral argument.

Counsel, please announce for the record.

MS. KONRAD: Robin Konrad and Dale Baich on behalf of

Joseph Wood who is appearing by video.

MR. ZICK: Good morning, Your Honor. Jeff Zick, Jeff

Sparks, Matt Binford, and Lacey Gard from the Arizona Attorney

General's Office on behalf of defendants.

THE COURT: Good morning, counsel. And good morning,

Mr. Wood.

And also listening is Margaret Epler, who is a staff

attorney with the Court of Appeals.

I will hear what either of you want to say. I have

some questions as well. Ms. Konrad, it's your motion so you

can go first.

MS. KONRAD: Thank you, Judge Wake.

Mr. Wood has made a simple request: He asked for

public governmental information related to the drugs that will

be used in his scheduled execution. Defendants have refused to

provide that information, and their actions have violated Mr.

Wood's First Amendment rights.

Mr. Wood seeks a preliminary injunction preventing

defendants from carrying out his execution unless and until
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they provide the public information that he has requested. Mr.

Wood can show a likelihood of success on Claim 2 from his

complaint.

THE COURT: I want to be clear that the motion for

preliminary injunction is grounded solely on the First

Amendment argument and none of the others. There's one line in

your brief where you reference due process, but there's nothing

elaborated in any claim for due process.

So my understanding is the sole basis for the relief

sought here is the First Amendment theory under Count 2,

correct?

MS. KONRAD: That is correct, Judge Wake.

Under Ninth Circuit precedent, there is a First

Amendment right of access to the execution process and the

information and documents related to that process. California

First Amendment Coalition determined that an execution is a

public governmental proceeding for which citizens have a First

Amendment right of access.

The circuit has also recognized that --

THE COURT: Well, that's once the prisoner enters the

execution chamber, right?

MS. KONRAD: The specifics in that case were related

to the execution itself. However, by finding that the

execution process is -- has been historically open to the

public, the case stands for the proposition that the execution
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process is an open, public governmental proceeding.

THE COURT: Actually, none of the things you request

here have historically been supplied to the public, have they?

I mean, there's three things: One, sources and manufacturers,

national drug codes and lot numbers of the drugs intended to be

used; number two is medical professional and controlled

substances qualifications and certifications of the personnel;

and number three, the manner in which the defendants develop

their lethal injection drug protocol. I'm really not quite

sure what that means. But none of those are historically open

to the public, have they been?

MS. KONRAD: Some of that information has been

provided to the public, not under the confidentiality statute.

The defendants have provided that information in West versus

Brewer, the case that was before Your Honor. And -- but what

is important and what this Court needs to understand is that

there is a First Amendment right to the execution process, that

that is the First Amendment Coalition case held that there is a

First Amendment right of access to the execution process.

The second part of that deals with documents and

information related to the execution process, which is what we

are asking for. And --

THE COURT: Neither the Ninth Circuit authority nor

any other circuit authority supports that, does it? There's no

case that says that -- now, let me interrupt myself. There's a
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lot of discussion here at an extremely high level of

abstraction. I'm talking about these three categories of

documents that you are seeking. And there's no appellate

authority that gives the First Amendment right to any of those,

have there?

MS. KONRAD: There has not been an appellate court who

has had the opportunity to reach this issue. This issue is

before this Court. However, there is Ninth Circuit precedent

to support the notion that the First Amendment right of access,

once the courts have recognized a First Amendment right of

access to a governmental proceeding, which it has here

regarding an execution, then that extends to records and

documents in governmental proceedings.

THE COURT: What's the authority for extending that to

the records and the specific things you are requesting? I

guess you have already answered my question. There is no

authority.

MS. KONRAD: There has not been authority on these

specific documents. However, the Ninth Circuit in a recent

decision from this year in Courthouse News Service versus

Planet, that's 750 F.3d at 776, there, the Court has recognized

that the Supreme Court has repeatedly held access to public

proceedings and records is an indispensable part of the

predicate to free expression about workings of the government

and also recognized that the Federal Courts of Appeals have
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widely agreed that access to documents and records extends to

civil cases. The Supreme Court --

THE COURT: Here's my problem.

MS. KONRAD: Uh-huh.

THE COURT: This is on an extremely high level of

generality, but cases are decided on facts.

MS. KONRAD: Correct.

THE COURT: I want to discuss what you are asking for

here and how you get to that. And I don't see anything that

supports any of that. You have that recent decision from Judge

Silver, but that's the only thing I can see that really

supports you on that. And all the others appear to be dead

against you.

MS. KONRAD: I'm sorry. Could you repeat that last

part, Judge?

THE COURT: All the other authority appears to be dead

against these contentions.

MS. KONRAD: The authorities that the State has cited

in their response, as we discuss in our reply, they are

generally discussing the proposition that non-public

information is not available when they are talking specifically

about First Amendment cases. And they also cite cases that

aren't even dealing with First Amendment principles.

Here, as California First Amendment Coalition takes us

through the First Amendment analysis and explains what is
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necessary, and they, that court, held that the First

Amendment -- there's a First Amendment right of access to the

execution process.

And what, Judge Wake, I'm -- I think you are correct.

I agree with you that there has not been a court, an appellate

court, who has actually decided the facts of this case, that

these are new facts which happen all the time. But the

principles of the First Amendment and the First Amendment law

support Mr. Wood as a public citizen to seek this information

under the First Amendment.

The -- in order to have access to the information, in

order to have -- this is an open public governmental

proceeding, executions have been. First Amendment Coalition

went through the history and has held it's been a historically

open public governmental proceeding.

So what we're asking for is not information that is

private information. We're not asking for information that

would be identifying persons involved.

THE COURT: In terms of open proceedings, if anybody,

and people now can, watch these executions through the public,

the public can indirectly through the press and others, you

don't see any of this stuff when you watch the execution. All

this is background events, information. None of this has

anything to do with the actual observance of the execution

process, does it?
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MS. KONRAD: That is accurate. However, just as the

Supreme Court has said that the public has an access -- a right

of access to criminal trials, they also have access to the

information surrounding those trials. So it's not just simply

coming to the governmental process and viewing the governmental

process. Where the governmental process has been found to be a

historically open proceeding, which it has under First

Amendment Coalition, then what attaches to that right is also

information that is related to that governmental proceeding.

And here, we -- if there is a First Amendment right, which

there is, then the defendants need to demonstrate that there is

some reason, they have not provided any reason much less

meeting the standard under the First Amendment, to withhold

this information.

THE COURT: Why do you need to know the identity of

the manufacturer? So that the manufacturer can be subjected to

public pressure to stop supplying these drugs as all others

have who have been publicly known to supply this stuff? Is

that why you need the identity of the manufacturer? What do

you need it for?

MS. KONRAD: Well, first of all, a public citizen

doesn't need to tell why he would like information that's

available to him under the First Amendment. There's no

requirement that they explain why they need the information.

However --
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THE COURT: Let's be clear then. You want all this.

There's no reason for it, but it's your right. And that's what

you are asking in your injunction. There's no reason, no need

for it, but you have a right for it. If that's your

preliminary injunction, you are really swimming up the

waterfall.

MS. KONRAD: The reason for the information is the

basis for the First Amendment to allow public debate over

things. The information is valuable to the public. If Mr.

Wood has access to --

THE COURT: Well, other than knowing that particular

people are supplying drugs for this purpose, for the collateral

consequence, what is the reason for knowing the identity, what

is your reason for knowing the identity of the manufacturer?

You say sources. I assume that means the same thing. Lot

numbers, how could you have lot numbers without identifying

manufacturer? I mean, can you -- does the -- I'm not sure I

know exactly what that means, but it sounds to me like if you

identify lot numbers that's telling you the manufacturer. Is

that right?

MS. KONRAD: Correct.

THE COURT: And national drug codes, help me out with

that.

MS. KONRAD: The national drug code is a specific code

that is given to drugs, I believe, when they are FDA
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registered.

THE COURT: What does -- I mean, that I'm not familiar

with. So tell me what that is and what is the usefulness of

you knowing that.

MS. KONRAD: This information is to be used for public

debate and further discussion about the death penalty.

THE COURT: You know, I'm not finding that high level

of abstraction to be useful. I'm asking you for something that

-- what use is going to be made of that public debate other

than to expose the manufacturer to public pressure because they

are manufacturing and supplying this?

MS. KONRAD: Well, on the other hand, Judge Wake, it

could let the public know this manufacturer has supplied it and

perhaps people who are pro-death penalty will choose to buy

stock in that corporation, will come out publicly to speak out

for, in favor, of that. It's not a one-sided debate. This

information is -- our government is based on the idea of free

flow and of information. And --

THE COURT: I do appreciate your candor in

acknowledging what I suspected here, which is the reason this

is being sought is to dry up the source of these drugs by

bringing consumer or public pressure against people. So I do

appreciate your candor acknowledging that. So that comes

back -- this is actually quite similar to the statutory

prohibition of releasing the identity of people involved in the
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execution. You want to get the identity of the supplier so

that pressure can be brought on them so that they will stop

supplying this. I suspected that. I appreciate your candor in

acknowledging it. Go ahead.

MS. KONRAD: Judge Wake, I think you may have

misunderstood me, because I didn't agree that the reason, the

sole purpose is to put pressure on these companies. Part of it

is to discuss the companies, perhaps looking into the

companies, what are their manufacturing process. The public

has a right to know this information and have a discussion.

As I mentioned, it could also be people supporting the

companies, people wanting to come out and say that these

companies are doing a good service, are providing drugs that

are necessary.

THE COURT: This is the exact same true of the

identity of the people involved in the execution process. If

we know who they are, their friends may have occasion to

dialogue with them about it. We can check further into

whatever we want. We can appeal to their own sense of whether

it's policy or law or morals. It seems your argument applies

equally to the identity of the people involved in the process.

MS. KONRAD: I would disagree. In First -- California

First Amendment Coalition, I believe, supports this that there

is a compelling, legitimate, penological interest in protecting

the safety of the people who participate in the executions
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protecting their identities. It's part of security purposes.

There's reasons tied to the prison.

Here, these are outside companies. They have nothing

to do with the prison itself. For example, in the past, the

defendants have provided information regarding suppliers of the

catheters that are used in the execution, of the restraint

belts. They have not contained that information. They have

not claimed that that information is confidential. And so this

here, drug manufacturers, people who are supplying things that

are to be used in an execution have not been kept confidential

historically.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

Well, I do have a question for you. And it has to do

with laches and bringing this motion. The letter from counsel

for the Department, on April 22, says, in part, the Department,

quote, "will use midazolam and hydromorphone in a two-drug

protocol," close quote. And then it says, "In the event ADC is

able to procure pentobarbital, ADC will provide notice of its

intent to use that drug in accordance with the Department Order

710," et cetera.

But the letter of May 6th says the Department, quote,

"will use midazolam" -- I'm not sure I'm pronouncing it

right -- "midazolam and hydromorphone in a two-drug protocol in

the event that a warrant of execution is issued." It says

nothing about doing anything else.
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And then the letter of June 6 really talks about other

matters, tells what they are going to -- what they supplied or

will not supply. And from May 6th until July 2nd, which is the

day you filed this motion, was what, about seven weeks? 56

days. Execution is set for July the 23rd. And let's see.

When was that writ issued setting that date?

MS. KONRAD: When was the warrant issued?

THE COURT: Yes. Right.

MS. KONRAD: I'm not sure off the top of my head.

Perhaps the defendants know off the top of their head.

THE COURT: Mr. Zick, do you know off the top of your

head?

MR. ZICK: I don't know.

THE COURT: I'm trying to figure out how long there

was notice of this execution date in relation to --

MS. KONRAD: I believe it was May 29th. It was the

last week of May.

THE COURT: So that's about 55 days. 55 days from the

issuance of the warrant of execution to the date of the

execution. And you had known for three weeks before the

warrant was issued of the State's position and yet you took, of

those 55 days, you took 33 of those 55 days to file your

motion, leaving three weeks for the other side to respond to

your motion, for this Court to study the matter, rule on it,

and leave time for the Court of Appeals to consider what will
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likely be appellate review of whatever decision this Court

makes.

Why is that not laches? That is unreasonable delay in

seeking the relief to the prejudice to the process, to the

courts, and to the other side in responding. Why do you get 33

days and gave them four days -- three days. I have got two

days. Court of Appeals will -- I'm moving this as fast as I

can so that the Court of Appeals will have the most time

possible to deal with any appeal. Why is that not unreasonable

delay that bars preliminary injunctive relief?

MS. KONRAD: Let me explain to you why, Judge Wake.

In that letter that you quoted from May 6th that you said that

the Department of Corrections said they will use midazolam and

hydromorphone. What's important to note on that letter is the

very last sentence, the last two sentences: "ADC will continue

to look for a source of pentobarbital indefinitely. If

successful, you will be notified in accordance with the

protocol." So the protocol that they are referencing in this

section, Attachment D, Subsection 2, indicates that the

prisoner gets notice 20 days before the execution.

So while that letter did indicate that they were

intending to use, there was still a possibility under the

protocol that they have developed and that they have -- the

defendants have said they follow, that the execution manner

could change at any time, the drugs.
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And so what Mr. Wood did, through counsel, was

continue to ask questions to Defendant Ryan about the execution

process, to learn this information as he is entitled to under

his First Amendment rights.

When Director Ryan sent the letter on June 6th and

attached some information which you noted was not entirely

relevant here, at that point, then plaintiffs worked on their

lawsuit and brought it as quickly as possible. And then Mr.

Wood brought this motion for a preliminary injunction only

three days after receiving notice that, in fact, under --

notice pursuant to the protocol, how he would be executed.

THE COURT: Well, let's break it down into the three

parts again. Two of those parts didn't seem to be affected by

that at all, that is, the demand for the medical, professional,

and controlled substance qualifications and certifications of

the personnel and the manner in which the defendants developed

the lethal injection drug protocol. They did give answers and

it's pretty clear that's what they are giving you and nothing

more. How is that affected by this caveat that they may be

looking for other drugs and will give 20 days notice if they do

intend to use another drug? How are those two categories --

how are you justified in delaying -- in seeking an injunction

for those two categories?

MS. KONRAD: Those categories can't be separated. I

mean, as you are aware, we, on behalf of our clients, take time
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to make sure that what we're coming to this Court and

presenting is what we feel a meritorious claim. And so to

bring part of a claim and then two or three weeks later bring

the other part, it just didn't seem to make sense as far as

judicial economy, as far as the timing, having multiple pieces

of litigation happening at the same time.

And so what has happened in the past during the last

two most recent executions, was we came into this Court. The

information we were seeking was turned over pursuant to the

Court order, and so we believe that there was a legitimate

reason in the request, and we had to ask for this information

related to the --

THE COURT: It's very different information.

MS. KONRAD: Some of it is additional information. I

will agree with you on that, Judge Wake.

THE COURT: I'm not endorsing the reasoning in any

other court's order, but as a practical matter, what you are

seeking in other matters is different, arguably a lot more

significant, than what you are seeking in this injunction. So

the fact that you may have persuaded another judge to order

them to produce certain information in no way suggests that you

are going to get that for any information you ask for in the

future if it's different information.

Tell me why that's -- well, I'm really speaking out

loud.
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MS. KONRAD: It's our position that Judge Silver's

order was correct in her analysis of the First Amendment that

Mr. Wood, as a individualized citizen, has a public interest

right in this information to the historically open governmental

proceeding of executions. And that is the basis, again, why

we're here, why we're seeking that information.

THE COURT: All right.

MS. KONRAD: If you have no other questions.

THE COURT: That's fine. We'll hear from the other

side.

MR. BINFORD: Good morning, Your Honor.

Preliminary injunction --

THE COURT: State your name, please.

MR. BINFORD: I'm Matthew Binford. I'm from the

Attorney General's Office and I'm representing the defendants.

A preliminary injunction is a drastic measure, and the

plaintiffs have a high burden to meet. In this case, they have

to show that they have a First Amendment right to obtain

information within the government's control. They are unable

to meet that burden because there is no First Amendment right

to information within the government's control. The First

Amendment does not confer upon them a right to force the

government to turn over information.

Two recent cases, Owens and Wellons, addressed a

prisoner's claim under the First Amendment to access
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information similar to what's requested here. In Owens, the

Georgia Supreme Court case, the Supreme Court there found that

there is no First Amendment right to that information.

Similarly, in Wellons, the 11th Circuit found that there's no

right to that information under the First Amendment.

Other cases from across the country have addressed

similar issues under a due process claim. And we understand

it's clear that they are not raising this as a due process

claim.

THE COURT: I want to be clear about that. That is

not presented. It is not before me. I will do nothing with

that and it cannot possibly be error for me to not to think

about grounded on that because the other side has made no such

contention and it's not before me.

MR. BINFORD: So if we focus on the First Amendment,

Judge, we agree that prisoners don't lose First Amendment

rights when they enter the prison doors. Prisoners enjoy

rights similar to the free citizens to the media. But the

bottom line is there is no First Amendment right to government

to turn over information no matter what your status in society

is. The media doesn't have a First Amendment right to force

the government to turn over information. Your average free

citizen doesn't have the right to force the government to turn

over information. So Mr. Wood does not have that right,

either.
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The Supreme Court has said there's no constitutional

right to have access to particular government information.

They said that in Houchins. Neither the First Amendment nor

the Fourteenth Amendment mandates the right of access to

government information or sources of information within the

government's control.

If you look to the text of the First Amendment it

restricts Congress from doing something. It says, "Congress

shall make no law abridging the freedom of speech." It doesn't

say that Congress shall turn over papers within their

possession, and it doesn't say that people shall have the right

to obtain documents within the government's possession.

As the Third Circuit has said, "it requires some

straining of the text to construe the Amendment's explicit

preclusion of government interference as conferring upon each

citizen a presumptive right of access to any government-held

information which may interest him or her."

The plaintiffs rely on the California First Amendment

Coalition case. In that case, the Ninth Circuit held that the

public enjoys a limited qualified right to view an execution

from the moment the condemned prisoner walks into the execution

chamber. That's all that case held. The Ninth Circuit had a

chance to expand upon that case in the recent Otter case

regarding the Idaho Department of Corrections and access to

observe executions there. They didn't expand. They said, "As
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we held before, there is a right to witness an execution,

qualified right, from the moment the prisoner enters."

That case talked about witnessing a proceeding. It

didn't talk about accessing government information. And it's a

large leap to say that just because you have a right to witness

a proceeding you all of a sudden have right to information that

may or may not concern that proceeding.

Wood has failed to cite to any binding precedent that

stands for the proposition that the public enjoys a First

Amendment right to obtain government information. And to the

contrary, the U.S. Supreme Court has said otherwise. In the

cases we have cited in our briefing, Houchins, McBurney

Virginia State Board of Pharmacy, Zemel v. Rusk, and LAPD

versus United Reporting all say there is no First Amendment

right to obtain government documents.

THE COURT: Those two are on an extremely high level

of generality, however, they favor you. But with respect to

this focused inquiry about matters directly relating to

executions, those are the cases that would be more helpful to

the Court.

MR. BINFORD: Well, in the California First Amendment

Coalition case, they conducted an analysis under Press

Enterprise II. But the Press-Enterprise test only applies to

government proceedings. It doesn't apply to documents within

the government's control. And they are not seeking access to
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any government proceeding here. They are seeking access to

documents that the Department of Corrections, or information

that the Department of Corrections has. And they are seeking

to force the Department to turn over that information.

If -- even if a Press-Enterprise II analysis was

conducted, this Court would look at whether the place and

process has historically been open to the press and general

public. Well, there is no place and process because these are

documents. It's information within Corrections' control. But

if you look to see whether these documents have historically

been available to the public, they have not. Corrections has

never issued a press release saying that this is the source of

the drugs we intend to use. They have never had a press

conference saying these are the qualifications of the medical

team members and this is how we decided to come up with these

two chemicals to use in this execution.

The only time that information has even been turned

over to anyone outside of Corrections is when there's lawsuits

going on, when there's ongoing litigation. Last time it was in

response, over objection, to Judge Silver's order. In West it

was part of the discovery process. But this information hasn't

been historically given out to the public. It hasn't even

historically been given to the plaintiffs in this case or to

the Federal Public Defender's Office who has represented the

plaintiffs in many of these cases.
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In regards to the second -- I mean, if you -- they

can't meet the first prong, but even if you got to the second

prong, whether public access plays a significant positive role

in the functioning of this particular process, again, we're not

talking about a process. We're talking about documents,

information the government has. But the source of the drugs

really plays no positive role in the functioning of executions.

The debate -- ADC has been very forthcoming in the past about

the drugs that will be used. They have been proactive. They

sent that letter out on April 22nd and said, look, these are

the two drugs we're going to use. We may find pentobarbital

but right now these are the two drugs we are going to use.

THE COURT: Let's talk about that for a minute. It

gets to the laches argument which you have made and I have

asked about.

So until the May 28 letter, whatever, the Department

is explicitly saying this is how we're going to do it and this

is the drugs we're going to use unless we do it some other way.

Isn't that the message you gave them right until May 28th?

MR. BINFORD: Yes. That's what it says in the

letters.

THE COURT: So how can it be laches for them to want a

real case or controversy before they come to court for relief?

MR. BINFORD: I think -- well, their claim is that a

First Amendment right attaches to this information no matter
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what chemicals or drugs are used.

THE COURT: That's the merits of the claim. I'm

talking about laches now, whether they waited an unreasonable

and prejudicially long time before coming to court.

MR. BINFORD: I guess I wasn't making it clear, but no

matter what drug we use, whether it was pentobarbital or

midazolam and hydromorphone, they would have been able to raise

these claims. They could have amended a complaint if they

filed a complaint and we changed it to pentobarbital or the

drugs suddenly became available. They could have amended their

complaint. They could have amended any motion for injunctive

relief.

THE COURT: Well, the second and third categories

perhaps, but the sources, manufacturers, national drug codes

and lot numbers, you can't give them that until you know what

drugs you are going to use. And you are explicitly telling

them, you are keeping it open as to what drugs you are going to

use. And they didn't know until May 28. I mean -- I said May.

I said May. June 28.

MR. BINFORD: But nothing stopped them from asking on

April 22nd about the NDC numbers or lot numbers from the

hydromorphone and midazolam.

THE COURT: But you refused that. You made clear you

weren't going to give them that.

MR. BINFORD: And we -- I'm sorry, Judge.
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THE COURT: So the issue isn't whether it was clear

whether you weren't going to give them these drugs, the issue

is what drugs you were going to use and whether there's a case

or controversy for them to come to court saying, we have a

constitutional right to have this information. We don't know

if they are going to actually use this stuff. Some day they

will tell us. But we want you to adjudicate now that if they

end up using these drugs we have a right. That doesn't sound

like a case or controversy the way we usually think of it

because your client wouldn't make up its mind.

MR. BINFORD: Well, if the law is as they say it is

and they have a First Amendment right to this information

then --

THE COURT: But we don't adjudicate hypothetical

questions. We don't give advisory opinions. We don't tell

people, if you do this, that will be okay. You don't have to

tell me whether they are going to do that. We don't do that in

federal court. That's contrary to Article III. By the way,

you can get that in state court sometimes, but you can't get it

here, not supposed to be able to get it here.

So I am exploring whether the argument, whether they

had a justiciable case or controversy that would occasion them

coming to court before you told them on June 28 that, yes, we,

like we said before, we are going to use the two-drug protocol

and there's no further word about -- well, actually the 20 days
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would have expired on July 3rd anyway if you have to give 20

days notice of a different drug.

MR. BINFORD: And the other letters, they were

courtesy notices from the director. The June 28th letter was a

letter that was issued in accordance with DO 710 with the

protocol, and it was a formal letter that was sent to them on

that date.

But, Judge, the -- their delay in bringing this

lawsuit is just one factor in the consideration for granting

the motion for injunctive relief.

THE COURT: Actually, laches is an independent

standalone basis to deny it, even if they otherwise would have

had a meritorious case.

So all right. Go ahead.

MR. BINFORD: Well, if you did get to the merits and

you did get to whether they have a likelihood of succeeding on

the merits or whether specifically Plaintiff Wood has a

likelihood of success, they just have no chance of success. If

this Court were to view the First Amendment as the plaintiffs

view it, there would be no need for a Freedom of Information

Act or a public records law. If the government was required to

turn over information because they had a First Amendment right

to it, there's just no need for a FOIA or for Arizona's public

record law. The Supreme Court has said in no uncertain terms

that there's no constitutional right have to access from
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particular government information or to require openness from

the bureaucracy. Wood's claim fails because he's alleging the

violation of a right that simply does not exist.

Attending a government proceeding and obtaining

documents from the government are two different things. And

since there's no First Amendment right to obtain the

information that he's requested from the defendants, his motion

for the preliminary injunction should be denied.

THE COURT: Now, in your brief, you argue that the

Schad case decided by Judge Silver is analytically erroneous

and the Court should not follow it. But do you have any

fact-based distinctions on that case, assuming it is not

analytically wrong at a high level of generality. Do you have

factual differences that would lead to a different result? I'm

not saying I agree with that decision. I just want to explore

whether there are differences that would matter.

MR. BINFORD: In that case, the pleadings filed by the

plaintiffs and -- the manufacturer was different. The source

was different. In that case, they knew who the source was.

They, after we disclosed the information, pursuant to the

judge's order, they issued a follow-up pleading asking for

clarification because they thought our information was wrong or

because they knew a certain thing about Lundbeck, the

manufacturer in that case. In this case, the source is

different. The chemicals are different. So that's one factual
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distinction.

And if you give me a moment, I can ask my co-counsel.

THE COURT: Yeah. Go ahead.

(Discussion off the record.)

MR. BINFORD: Another thing that Mr. Zick reminded me

of is that in Schad, the plaintiffs' claim that the drugs were

near their expiration date, they knew a lot more about the

stock of drugs that Corrections had. They claimed that they

were near the expiration date. And, in fact, those proceedings

occurred in October of last year, and the expiration date as we

disclosed pursuant to the judge's order was November. So we

were nearing the execution date in that case.

Additionally, the company that provided the drugs or

the manufacturer of the drugs in that case had issued a public

statement. They had publicly acknowledged that they had

provided these drugs in the past and they were no longer doing

it in the future. We don't have that in this case. The

manufacturer of the drugs that Corrections has now hasn't been

made public. It shouldn't be made public, and --

THE COURT: Well, again, what did the Court order

produce in that case, and how was it different from what is

being sought in this case, different in a way that would

matter? Maybe there's no difference. So just tell me that and

we'll move on.

MR. BINFORD: Well, I can tell you the four things
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that the judge ordered in that case were the manufacturer, the

national drug code numbers, the lot numbers, and the expiration

date.

THE COURT: Same thing sought here.

MR. BINFORD: Other than the qualifications of the

medical personnel and the, I guess, the thought process that

went into or the process that went into developing the new

protocol.

THE COURT: I have another question that's been on my

mind for a couple years, since the last time I was here on

these execution, drug execution cases. And the broader

question is do I have a case or controversy? I suppose if we

look at this in time, obviously the plaintiffs have a case or

controversy because he has an execution date set. So it's

extremely concrete for him. But up until May 28th, there is no

decision. There was a hypothetical contingent decision we'll

do it this way unless we get the drugs to do it that way. And

I have already articulated some of my concern about whether

that would have even supported a lawsuit at a time when the

Department wasn't making a decision.

This is actually very concrete with me, because I have

had two previous cases, all brought by the prisoners and in all

of them the Department of Corrections came into court and

avowed to me what they were going to do, that their plan or

their protocol was constitutional, that's really what they are
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going to do, and therefore, I should adjudicate that that was

constitutional. And I concluded, obviously, in each of those

instances that there was a case or controversy and I rendered

my best judgment.

Well, it turns out the defendant got up to the Court

of Appeals and changed things, sometimes under pressure from

the judges in oral argument. So it turned out that I probably

didn't have cases or controversy in those cases. I was simply

giving advisory opinions to give the defendants leverage to

negotiate with the Court of Appeals. They didn't stand by the

rulings that I gave.

So I don't take it personally, but I'm not in the

business of giving advisory opinions. So I think when we were

last here in the previous case, I didn't mention that, but it

certainly raises a question in my mind from experiences as to

whether I can rely on the Department's avowals this is what

they are going to do and therefore it is appropriate for the

Court to adjudicate the legality of that that hasn't stood up.

I'm not sure how that cuts here, because the

plaintiffs have the most concrete case or controversy

imaginable in that their execution has been ordered and will

happen unless something stops it. I wonder if I should just

simply enter an injunction stopping the Department from

executing this defendant until they can come to the Court and

persuade me, contrary to prior experience, that they are
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actually going to do what they are asking me to adjudicate the

constitutionality of. To do -- it's a strange turnaround of

case or controversy because the Court doesn't grant relief

without a case or controversy. But the difficulty I have had

has been with the Department of Corrections. And I certainly

can't allow a plaintiff to be executed because the Department

won't make up its mind what it's going to do and therefore

present a true case or controversy for the Court to adjudicate.

I am sort of going -- you weren't here at that time, so this is

history for you. Mr. Zick was. He remembers all of it.

So I look at this case, and it does appear clear that

the State is not going to use pentobarbital because they have

come within the 20 days that they acknowledge they have to give

notice if they are going to do that. Before they didn't even

do that. So maybe what the Department says they are going to

do is sufficiently concrete here that I can adjudicate the

merits, contrary to my experience with the Department in prior

cases.

So this is a very strange situation, because it turns

everything on its head. It would mean giving the plaintiff an

injunction precisely because there is not a case or controversy

as to what the State's going to do and protecting their right,

at least to have some minimal -- actually, minimal notice, you

know, when I had -- last had you all in here, which was the

follow-up on -- what was the last case? The names run together
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in my mind.

MR. ZICK: Towery.

THE COURT: Towery. Yes. I think I made the comment

that it looked to me from this experience of multiple cases

that both sides were taking unreasonable positions that the

plaintiffs were demanding as a matter of constitutional

principle that every possible contingency that might happen be

scripted out ahead of time and in writing subject to

constitutional scrutiny. And I felt that couldn't be right,

because there are things that happen in the process of an

execution that the people on the spot, the administering

personnel, ultimately the director, have to make decisions as

things go, like the collapse of the vein, what to do next. You

can think it ahead of time and whatnot.

And the director was taking the position of here's

what we're going to do unless we do something different and

that that's constitutional because they have the right to

change their mind. And I raised the question of whether there

are some things that are sufficiently grave, sufficiently close

to serious risk of cruel and unusual punishment substantial and

avoidable pain, that it could make it necessary and appropriate

to know ahead of time whether it was going to be pursued or not

and that a line needed to be drawn. I threw that on the table.

I have never made a ruling to that effect. I threw that out

for discussion, and I haven't seen you for the last two years.
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So I'm not sure how that cuts here. Maybe if the

director, on these issues, has made a clear decision as to what

he's not going to do, information he's not going to give, and

this time -- well, I believed it every time before, too. It

turned out to be wrong. This time I have to believe it too, to

give an adjudication.

So I have been musing about this, Mr. Binford, not

sure which direction it cuts. It does seem to me that if the

director will not make a decision and have it truly believable,

that is, to persuade me, then the other side has a pretty good

case to stop the execution until the director and the

Department does that. But on the other hand, maybe they have

done that here. Maybe I have that here in a very focused way,

not just a request for Judge Wake's best opinion from which

they could then negotiate in oral argument with the Court of

Appeals as to what they are really going to do.

So poor Mr. Binford. You weren't here. You can't

respond to that. So I articulate this because this has been on

my mind for over two years now. And I have to decide how

things apply in this case here.

MR. BINFORD: Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: You can sit down. Thank you.

All right. Ms. Konrad, I will hear your reply.

MS. KONRAD: Just a few quick points, Judge Wake.

I just want to be clear we are not seeking the
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information today to dry up the drug source. Mr. Wood, along

with any other citizen, has a right to that information and I

want the record to be clear on that.

The defendants mentioned cases out of the Georgia and

the Eleventh Circuit. Those cases aren't controlling, and the

Eleventh Circuit decision in Wellons has no analysis. So this

Court should apply its own circuit precedent.

And we mentioned the order in Schad. I want to make

clear there was a due process claim in Schad that's not present

here. But what is relevant from Judge Silver's order is the

analysis of First Amendment law based on this circuit and the

Supreme Court precedent that this Court should follow.

The defendants also mention Houchins. That is a

different case. It was regarding non-public information and it

was also before the watershed case of Richmond News which held

that there's a First Amendment right of public access to

criminal proceedings because those are governmental proceedings

to be open to the public.

Defendants also mention the Otter decision that was

out of the Ninth Circuit and how the Ninth Circuit had the

opportunity but did not to expand on California First Amendment

Coalition. That is incorrect because that was -- the issue

presented in Otter was the exact same issue that was presented

in First Amendment Coalition, California First Amendment

Coalition.

ER 051

Case: 14-16310     07/14/2014          ID: 9167398     DktEntry: 10-2     Page: 56 of 59



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

10:57:46

10:58:06

10:58:30

10:58:51

10:59:15

35

Finally, I just want to make sure the record is clear,

this case or controversy became clear on June 28th when

Defendant Ryan sent the letter.

THE COURT: As of that date, and as of now, though, is

it a real case or controversy? Is the Department's plan and

intention real and concrete enough that I can proceed to

determine the constitutionality of it?

MS. KONRAD: It's Mr. Wood's position that he has been

denied his First Amendment rights because the defendants

continually fail to turn over information that he's requested

in which he has a First Amendment right to that information,

open public execution proceedings and the documents that attach

to that. The defendants have argued that the documents aren't

included in the public right to First Amendment right to public

access, and as we noted, there's a recent decision that

outlines in Courthouse News of the Ninth Circuit why documents

are also included when a First Amendment right has been

recognized to a historically open public procedure.

So if you have no further questions I just

respectfully request that you grant the preliminary injunction

we're requesting. Thank you so much.

THE COURT: All right. So the execution is set for

July 23rd. Today is the 11th (sic). It is my intention to

have a ruling by Friday. I can't absolutely guarantee

anything, but that's my intention. And that would leave 12
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calendar days for the counsel and the Court of Appeals to deal

with this, which is an extremely short period of time. But on

the other hand, that's the best I can do in terms of the timing

that was presented to me that's beyond my control.

All right. Thank you, counsel. The motion is taken

under advisement.

(Proceeding concluded at 10:59 a.m.)

ER 053

Case: 14-16310     07/14/2014          ID: 9167398     DktEntry: 10-2     Page: 58 of 59



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

37

C E R T I F I C A T E

I, LAURIE A. ADAMS, do hereby certify that I am duly

appointed and qualified to act as Official Court Reporter for

the United States District Court for the District of Arizona.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that the foregoing pages constitute

a full, true, and accurate transcript of all of that portion of

the proceedings contained herein, had in the above-entitled

cause on the date specified therein, and that said transcript

was prepared under my direction and control.

DATED at Phoenix, Arizona, this 9th day of July, 2014.

s/Laurie A. Adams
_______________________________
Laurie A. Adams, RMR, CRR
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